COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2012 NOV 19 AM 9: 36

STATE OF WAS AMAGTON

BY_

NO. 43359-1-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DAVID WILLIAM CARSON,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable Ronald E. Culpepper

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

VALERIE MARUSHIGE Attorney for Appellant

23619 55th Place South Kent, Washington 98032 (253) 520-2637

1. Procedural Facts

On November 9, 2010, the State charged appellant, David William Carson, with one count of rape of a child in the first degree and one count of child molestation in the first degree. CP 1-2. The State amended the information on February 10, 2012, charging Carson with three counts of child molestation in the first degree. CP 9-10.

Following pretrial hearings ² and a trial before the Honorable Ronald E. Culpepper, a jury found Carson guilty as charged. CP 75-77; 5RP 476-78. The court sentenced Carson to 105 months with a maximum term of life in confinement and community custody for life. CP 82-101; 5RP 10-12.

Carson filed a timely notice of appeal. CP 78.

 $^{^1}$ There are five volumes of verbatim report of proceedings: 1RP - 02/15/12, 02/16/12; 2RP - 02/21/12; 3RP - 02/22/12; 4RP - 02/23/12, 02/24/12; 5RP - 04/27/12.

² The trial court did not enter Findings and Conclusions after the 3.5 hearing but the court's oral findings are sufficient to permit appellate review. <u>State v. Cunningham</u>, 116 Wn. App. 219, 226, 65 P.3d 325 (2003).

2. <u>Substantive Facts</u>

a. <u>Jury Questionnaire</u>

Prior to voir dire, the court discussed with both counsel the process of passing out and then reviewing the jury questionnaires. 1RP 6-8. The record contains no further discussion about the jury questionnaires but the questionnaires were filed and sealed. Supp. CP _____ (Sealed Jury Questionnaires, 02/24/2012).

b. <u>Trial Testimony</u>

On August 16, 2010, Detective Thomas Catey was assigned to investigate an alleged sexual assault of a six-year-old child, C.C., during the period between June 1, 2009 and May 31, 2010. 2RP 190-92. Catey did not speak with C.C. but he watched and listened to an interview of C.C. conducted by a forensic interviewer and spoke with C.C.'s mother, Tiffany Hagen. 2RP 192-94. Thereafter, he called the suspect identified as David Carson. 2RP 192, 194. Carson volunteered to meet with him at police headquarters. 2RP 194. Catey interviewed Carson for half an hour after advising him of his rights. 2RP 195.

Carson told Catey that he lived with Dustin Halbert and Tiffany Hagen for about a year and a half when he was homeless. He paid rent, provided his food stamps to the household, and watched their children while they were at work. 2RP 198-99. Carson moved out after Halbert

accused him of sleeping with Hagen. 2RP 198, 204. Carson considered C.C. his nephew and he denied the allegations. 2RP 196, 199-200. He believed that Halbert and Hagen planted the idea in C.C.'s head as retaliation for leaving and placing them in a financial bind. 2RP 200. Catey allowed Carson to go home after the interview and he submitted a report to the prosecutor's office. 2RP 204.

Tiffany Hagen lives with her fiancé, Dustin Halbert, and her three children. Her oldest child is C.C. who is now seven years old. 2RP 144-45. Hagen testified that Halbert and Carson were childhood friends and grew up together. 2RP 145-46. In the summer of 2009, Carson came to live with them because he was homeless. 2RP 147. He paid \$250 a month in rent, helped pay for food, cooked, cleaned, and watched the children while she and Halbert were at work. 2RP 152, 154, 183. The children liked Carson and C.C. called him "Uncle David." 2RP 153. Carson moved out on the day before Memorial Day 2010 because he and Halbert got into an argument. When Carson left, friends and relatives helped watch the children. 2RP 161-62.

On August 13, 2010, Hagen was driving to her friend's house with the children when C.C. kept saying, "Mom, Mom, Mom." 2RP 162-64. When she asked him what he wanted, C.C. "very simply just stated that David tried to put his penis in his butt." 2RP 164. C.C. said it happened

"[n]ext to a closet," which was located at the end of a very small hallway between the stairs and bedrooms. 2RP 160, 180. Hagen was unsure of the exact term that C.C. used but recalled that he sometimes used the word "business" to describe his penis. 2RP 165. She called Halbert and when she arrived at her friend's house, she called 911. 2RP 166-68. Hagen spoke with an officer who came to the house and she later took C.C. to a clinic for a forensic interview and medical examination. 2RP 169-72.

C.C. testified that "Uncle David" would watch him and his brother and sister when his mom and dad were at work. 2RP 103-04. "Business" is "[s]omething that you use to go to the bathroom." 2RP 105. C.C. made up the word "business" and his mom and dad told him to use the word. 2RP 124-25. Uncle David touched C.C.'s business with his hands and touched C.C.'s bottom with his business more than once. 2RP 106, 109. Uncle David touched C.C.'s business in his dad's office, C.C.'s bedroom, his mom's bedroom, and in the bathroom. 2RP 109-110, 127. His business never went inside C.C.'s body. 2RP 111. Uncle David used "plastic strings" to tie C.C.'s hands and put duct tape on his mouth when they were in his mom's room. 2RP 112-13, 116-17, 128. C.C. told his mom about what Uncle David did and she told his dad. 2RP 118.

Cornelia Thomas, a child forensic interviewer, conducted an interview with C.C. on August 26, 2010 when he was six years old. 3RP

243. The recorded interview was played for the jury. 3RP 249; Ex. 5. After the interview, Michele Breland, a pediatric nurse practitioner, performed a medical examination on C.C. 3RP 385, 402-03. During the examination, C.C. told Breland that David "tried to punch me and he put his business in my bottom." 3RP 389. C.C. asked her if she "was going to check my business" and he pointed to his genital area. 3RP 390. The result of the examination was inconclusive. 3RP 401.

Katie Davenport met Carson when he was about seven years old. Carson has trouble focusing because of a learning disability. 3RP 266. Davenport has known Dustin Halbert and Tiffany Hagen for several years. When Carson moved in with them, she visited him a few times. 3RP 267. Carson baby-sat the children, changed their diapers, fed them, and cleaned the house. Davenport heard the children call Carson "dad" because "he had been with them for so much and he does everything for them." 3RP 267-68, 271. The children were really happy and healthy. 3RP 269.

Amber Midgett has known Carson for 11 years. 3RP 272. Midgett picked Carson up multiple times when he was living with Halbert and Hagen. Carson was not able to drive. 3RP 272-73, 276. Midgett saw Carson playing with the children on several occasions, "[t]hey adored him." 3RP 274. Even when their mother was there, the children would go to Carson, "I never saw anything other than love for him." 3RP 274-75.

Carson's brother, Martin, saw Carson playing with the children many times at family functions, get-togethers with friends, birthdays, and barbeques. 3RP 282-83. C.C. was a shy, very skittish child, but he loved Carson, gave him hugs, and played with him. 3RP 282-83. When Carson was living with Halbert and Hagen, Martin never went to their home because they would not allow him to visit. 3RP 282, 287. Carson has a learning disability and people can easily take advantage of him. 3RP 284-85.

Jennifer Bryant, Martin's wife, saw Carson playing with the children at family functions. Carson acted "like a really big kid with the kids." 3RP 290. When Carson was living with Halbert and Hagen, he watched the children, cooked, cleaned, and changed diapers. 3RP 291. Bryant picked Carson up at their house many times but Halbert would never allow her to come inside. 3RP 291-92.

Ruben Lupio visited Carson almost everyday when he was living with Halbert and Hagen. 3RP 294-95. They worked on cars or would just hang out. 3RP 296. Carson was "basically a baby-sitter, nanny, always watching the kids." 3RP 295. Carson played with the children and had a good relationship with them. Lupio never noticed anything unusal. 3RP 296.

Carson testified on his own behalf. He has ADHD, a learning disability that slows him down. 3RP 301. He has known Halbert since they were kids and moved in with Halbert and Hagen in 2009 when he became homeless. 3RP 302-03. After four or five months, "I was giving them all my money and giving them \$150 of my food stamps and watching the kids pretty much all day." 3RP 304. Carson cared for the children, cooked, cleaned, did the laundry, and took care of the family dog. 3RP 305-06. C.C., the oldest child, would pick on his younger brother and sister at times and was extremely skittish. 3RP 306-07, 310-11. Carson discovered C.C. with a pornographic tape once and the incident was reported to Halbert who "dealt with it." 3RP 312-13.

Carson moved out in May 2010 after Halbert accused him of sleeping with Hagen. 3RP 314. Halbert and Hagen were extremely upset when he left because they had no one to watch the children and he had been contributing about \$350 to \$400 to the family's income. 3RP 316, 319. When a detective called Carson about allegations made by C.C., he agreed to meet with the detective, "[b]ecause I didn't do it and I wanted to try to clear my name as quickly as possible." 3RP 318-19. He did not do anything sexually inappropriate to C.C. 3RP 317. Carson acknowledged that there were discrepancies between his direct testimony and his

responses during his interview with the detective due to memory lapses. 3RP 324-325, 330-32.

c. <u>Unanimity Instruction</u>

During a review of the jury instructions, the court heard argument from the State and defense counsel on whether a <u>Petrich</u> unanimity instruction should be provided to the jury. 4RP 404. Defense counsel opposed giving the instruction, arguing that the instruction would confuse the jury because it was designed for one-count cases, not multiple-count cases. 4RP 404-06, 408-09. The State argued that it proposed the instruction because it did not elect any particular act and therefore a unanimity instruction is required because multiple acts of the same crime are alleged. 4RP 406-09. The trial court declined to give the instruction. 4RP 409.

D. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO PROVIDE A UNANIMITY INSTRUCTION THEREBY DENYING CARSON HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A UNANIMOUS JURY VERDICT.

Reversal is required where the trial court erred by failing to provide a unanimity instruction in violation of Carson's constitutional

right to a unanimous jury verdict and the error was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.³

Criminal defendants in Washington have a constitutional right to a unanimous jury verdict. Wash. Const. art. I, section 21; State v. Ortega-Martinez, 124 Wn.2d 702, 707, 881 P.2d 231 (1994). A defendant may be convicted only when a unanimous jury concludes that the accused committed the criminal act charged. State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566, 569, 683 P.2d 173 (1984). When the State presents evidence of multiple acts, any one of which could constitute the crime charged, the jury must unanimously agree as to which act constitutes the crime. Id. at 572. To ensure jury unanimity, the State must elect a single act upon which it will rely for conviction, or the jury must be instructed that all of them must agree as to which act or acts were proved beyond a reasonable doubt. Id.

Where there is no election made by the State in a multiple acts case, omission of a unanimity instruction "is presumed to result in prejudice" because of the possibility that some jurors relied on one act and some relied on another, resulting in a lack of unanimity on all of the elements necessary for a valid conviction. The <u>State v. Coleman</u>, 159 Wn.2d 509, 512, 150 P.3d 1126 (2007)(citing <u>State v. Kitchen</u>, 110 Wn.2d 403, 411-

³ Manifest constitutional errors can be asserted for the first time on appeal. <u>State v. Bobenhouse</u>, 166 Wn.2d 881, 892 n.4, 214 P.3d 907 (2009).

12, 756 P.2d 105 (1988). Failure to provide a unanimity instruction requires reversal unless the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. "The presumption of error is overcome only if no rational juror could have a reasonable doubt as to any of the incidents alleged." <u>Coleman</u>, 159 Wn.2d at 512 (citing <u>Kitchen</u>, 110 Wn.2d at 411-12).

In State v. York, 152 Wn. App. 92, 216 P.3d 436 (2009), a jury convicted York of four counts of second degree rape of a child and he appealed his conviction on count four. 152 Wn. App. at 93-94. The evidence supporting count four was the child's testimony that she spent the night at Cindy's house once a week for about a year and that York had sex with her on most of those occasions. This evidence presented the jury with multiple acts of like misconduct, any one of which could form the basis of count four. Id. at 95. This Court concluded that "[b]ecause the State did not specify an act for count four, the trial court should have given a unanimity instruction to ensure that the jurors agreed that a specific act, out of the multiple acts S.B. described, supported the count four conviction beyond a reasonable doubt." Id. In reversing the conviction, this Court reasoned that it had no way to determine which specific act the jury relied upon because S.B. testified to numerous separate rapes and there was conflicting evidence. Id. at 96.

Here, a jury convicted Carson of three counts of child molestation in the first degree.⁴ The evidence supporting the three counts was C.C.'s trial testimony, his statements to a child forensic interviewer, and his mother's testimony. Tiffany Hagen testified that her son, C.C., used the word "business" to describe his penis. 2RP 165. C.C. told her that Carson tried to put his penis in his butt and that it happened next to a closet located at the end of a very small hallway between the stairs and bedroom. 2RP 160, 164, 180. C.C. testified that Carson touched his "business" while in his dad's office, C.C.'s bedroom, his mom's bedroom, and in the bathroom. 2RP 109-110, 127. C.C. made similar statements during a recorded forensic interview. Ex. 5.

The State proposed a unanimity instruction based on WPIC 4.25, which the court declined to provide to the jury:

The State alleges that the defendant committed acts of Child Molestation in the First Degree against C.C. on multiple occasions. To convict the defendant on any count of Child Molestation in the First Degree, one particular act of Child Molestation in the First Degree must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt, and you must unanimously agree as to which act has been proved. You need not

RCW 9A.44.083

A person is guilty of child molestation in the first degree when the person has, or knowingly causes another person under the age of eighteen to have, sexual contact with another who is less than twelve years old and not married to the perpetrator and the perpetrator is at least thirty-six months older than the victim.

unanimously agree that the defendant committed all the acts of Child Molestation in the First Degree.

CP 58-74 (Jury Instruction 3).

Similar to <u>York</u>, the evidence revealed at least five separate acts which could form the basis of the three counts of child molestation in the first degree: in C.C.'s father's office; in C.C.'s mother's bedroom, in C.C.'s bedroom, in the bathroom, and near the closet at the end of the small hallway. Without a unanimity instruction, there is no assurance that the jurors unanimously agreed as to which acts supported the three counts. Jurors have a constitutional "responsibility to connect the evidence to respective counts." <u>State v. Vander Houwen</u>, 163 Wn.2d 25, 39, 177 P.3d 93 (2008).

Furthermore, the record substantiates that the court's failure to give a unanimity instruction was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. In Kitchen, 115 Wn.2d at 412, the Court reversed because of the conflicting testimony and a rational juror could have entertained reasonable doubt as to whether one or more of the acts occurred. In Petrich, 101 Wn.2d at 573, the Court reversed because at times during the child's testimony, she expressed confusion and uncertainly. The Court concluded that it could not hold that a rational trier of fact could have found each incident proved beyond a reasonable doubt. Similarly, there was conflicting testimony

here. Carson testified that he never touched C.C. inappropriately and that he "was like my nephew or even my own kid." 3RP 317-18. Numerous witnesses testified that Carson had a loving relationship with C.C. and the other children and they adored him and called him "dad." 3RP 267-71, 274-75, 282-83, 290, 295-96. At various times, C.C.'s testimony was contradictory and confusing:

- Q. Was there ever a time that David had to touch your business?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Can you tell us when David touched your business?
- A. I forgot
- Q. Do you remember what he touched your business with?
- A. His hands.
- Q. Do you remember where you were when he touched your business?
- A. No
- Q. When he touched your business, was it over your clothes or under your clothes?
- A. I forgot.

. . . .

- Q. Okay. How many times do you actually remember David touching your business, or do you remember at all?
- A. I don't remember at all.
- Q. Does that mean he never did?
- A. He did, but I don't know how much times.
- Q. So could it have been 10 or 15?
- A. The only time I know when he did that is in the bathroom.

. . . .

- Q. And you don't know if your clothes were on or off when you said David twisted your business or touched your business?
- A. I don't remember.
- Q. And you don't remember him touching your business at all?
- A. No.
- Q. And you've never seen his business?
- A. No.

. . . .

- Q. You said something about your dad's office?
- A. Yeah.
- Q. Something happened in your dad's office?
- A. I forgot.
- Q. Okay. Did this, with David's business, happen once or more than once?
- A. Did he do it more than once?
- Q. Yes.
- A. Yes.
- Q. How many times?
- A. I don't really remember.
- Q. Five? Six?
- A I think he did it -- I don't know, really.
- Q. Well, you just told us that it happened in your dad's office?
- A. Dad's, and my mom's and dad's room and my room and Cayden's, my brother's, and the bathroom.
- Q. So it happened in the bathroom?
- A. My mom and dad's room.
- Q. What happened in the bathroom?
- A. He put his business -- I mean, wait. I forgot that.
- Q. So you don't remember what happened in the bathroom?
- A. No.
- Q. Do you remember -- you don't remember what happened in your room?
- A. No
- Q. And you don't remember what happened in your mom's room?

A. The only thing I know in my mom's room was he put the duct tape and the strings on me.

2RP 106-07, 125-28.

Tiffany Hagen testified that when C.C. told her what Carson did, "it was unclear whether it was more than one event or not." 2RP 181. C.C. did not say that anything happened in the office or her bedroom. She could only remember that C.C. said it happened next to the closet. 2RP 180.

Unlike in <u>Camarillo</u>, 115 Wn.2d 60, 72, 794 P.2d 850 (1990)(error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt), there was conflicting testimony, uncertainty, and confusion. The court instructed the jury that "[i]n order to decide whether any proposition has been proved, you must consider all of the evidence that I have admitted that relates to the proposition." CP 58-74 (Jury Instructions 1). When considering all of the evidence, fraught with contradictions and inconsistencies, no rational trier of fact could have found each incident proved beyond a reasonable doubt. Consequently, the presumption of prejudice cannot be overcome. "*Kitchen* requires a presumption of prejudice whenever jury instructions are erroneous as to unanimity, precisely because the error usually makes it impossible to determine what the jury found factually. Without a unanimity instruction in a multiple acts case, the jury might convict even though they were not

unanimous about any particular act having occurred." <u>State v. Camarillo</u>, 115 Wn.2d at 73 (Utter, concurring)(citing <u>Kitchen</u>, 110 Wn.2d at 411).

As the prosecutor argued in proposing the unanimity instruction, "my reading of the law is that where the State fails to elect, a Petrich instruction must be given, and it's a constitutionally due process right." 4RP 407. Reversal is required because the trial court erred in failing to provide a unanimity instruction and the court's error was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

2. CARSON WAS DENIED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHERE DEFENSE COUNSEL OBJECTED TO GIVING A REQUIRED UNANIMITY INSTRUCTION.

Reversal is required because Carson was denied his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel where defense counsel objected to giving a unanimity instruction.

The right to effective assistance of counsel is "fundamental to, and implicit in, any meaningful modern concept of ordered liberty." <u>State v. A.N.J.</u>, 168 Wn.2d 91, 96, 225 P.3d 956 (2010). "The purpose of the requirement of effective assistance of counsel is to ensure a fair and impartial trial." <u>State v. Thomas</u>, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225, 743 P.2d 816 (1987).

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