NO. 43359-1

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

DAVID WILLIAM CARSON, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Ronald E. Culpepper

No. 10-1-04754-1

Response Brief

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By

THOMAS C. ROBERTS Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 17442

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

During closing argument, the prosecutor elected defendant's twisting CC's penis as the first act upon which the jury should rely to convict:

The allegations in this case are that the defendant placed his hand and twisted, according to [C.C.], his penis on one occasion while he was in the bathroom. The penis is an intimate part of a child's body.

Now, as to that specific allegation, you're also required to find that the defendant did so for purposes of sexual gratification. . . .

RP 424 (emphasis added). After describing this first act of molestation, the prosecutor told the jury the second and third acts that constituted the remaining of defendant's charges:

The defendant tried to put his penis in [C.C.'s] bottom: This was the initial disclosure. This was the very first disclosure that was made to Tiffany Hagen on August 13th, 2010. That one incident, because [CC], you'll remember, described several different times the defendant tried to put his penis in his bottom: In his room, in his mom's room, in the office. He described several different occasions.

Some [C.C.] was able to describe with greater specificity than others, and there's two that the State is focusing on and would like you to focus on for purposes of your deliberations, one that occurred in his room, and the instant one that I'm referring to right now that occurred allegedly in his mother's room, in Tiffany's room.

The one incident occurred in his mother's room at the old house. That the defendant zip-tied his hands behind his back and placed black tape on his mouth, where does a six-year-old come up with this?....

And on another occasion the defendant again tried to put his penis in his bottom in his bedroom. He remembers he was wearing jeans and boxer shorts and that they had been taken down. The defendant was also wearing jeans, 'Like me,' he said enthusiastically in his forensic interview. The defendant made him look at his Spider Man blanket.

RP 428-30 (emphasis added). Later during closing argument, the State

reiterated these three acts constituted the basis of defendant's charges:

[The defense witnesses] can't tell you what happened when [Mr. Halbert] and [Ms. H.] were at work. They can't tell you what happened in [Ms. H.]'s bedroom when it was just [C.C.] and the defendant. They can't tell you what happened in [C.C.]'s bedroom when it was just [C.C.] and the defendant. They can't tell you what happened in that bathroom. And the explanation is simple: They weren't there.

RP 436 (emphasis added).

As identified by the prosecutor above, there was evidence of multiple acts that defendant molested C.C. on more occasions than those the State relied on for defendant's charges. For example, there was evidence defendant put his penis in C.C.'s anus in C.C.'s room, Ms. H.'s room, the office, and the bathroom. RP 109–10, 114, 127; Ex. 5. (13:58:15, 14:00:40, 14:03:00, 14:11:45, 14:18:00–14, 14:20:00). Defendant relies on this evidence to argue that a unanimity instruction was required. Brief of Appellant at 13–16. However, defendant's argument ignores that the prosecutor elected only three of those instances in closing argument as the basis for defendant's charges. A *Petrich* instruction is not required where the State elects accordingly. *Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d at 411.

The trial court was not required to give a *Petrich* instruction because the State elected which acts the jury should rely on during their deliberations as to each charge. The trial court thus properly granted defendant's motion not to give a *Petrich* instruction, and this Court should deny defendant's claim in this regard.

> b. <u>Defendant invited the error, if any, when he</u> requested the trial court not to offer a <u>Petrich instruction</u>

"The invited error doctrine 'prohibits a party from setting up an error at trial and then complaining of it on appeal." *State v. Ellison*, _____ Wn. App. ____, 291 P.3d 921 (2013) (quoting *State v. Pam*, 101 Wn.2d

507, 511, 680 P.2d 762 (1984), overruled on other grounds by State v. Olson, 126 Wn.2d 315, 321, 893 P.2d 629 (1995)).

The case authority on the invited error doctrine, in cases concerning challenges to the jury instructions for the first time on appeal, generally involves a situation where the defendant proposed the instructions below. *See, e.g., State v. Henderson*, 114 Wn.2d 867, 869, 792 P.2d 514 (1990); *State v. Boyer*, 91 Wn.2d 342, 345, 588 P.2d 1151 (1979); *State v. Summers*, 107 Wn. App. 373, 380–82, 28 P.3d 780 (2001), *modified on other grounds*, 43 P.3d 526 (2002). The reviewing courts have found the invited error doctrine to bar such challenges. *See, e.g., Henderson*, 114 Wn.2d at 869; *Boyer*, 91 Wn.2d at 345; *Summers*, 107 Wn. App. at 380–82.

In the present case, defendant argues the converse of the situation in *Henderson*, *Boyer*, and *Summers*: specifically, that the trial court erred by granting his motion *not* to give a unanimity instruction. Brief of Appellant at 9–17. But these arguments are not unlike. The trial court in this case acted on defendant's motion in defendant's favor—similar to the trial courts in *Henderson*, *Boyer*, and *Summers*—though it exercised its discretion not to give an instruction as opposed to giving one. RP 404–09. In each of the cases, the defendants invited the trial court to exercise its discretion in a manner the defendants challenged on appeal. The invited error doctrine bars such challenges. As argued above, a *Petrich* instruction was not required because the State properly elected which acts constituted defendant's charges. But even if this Court were to find error in the trial court's refusal to give the unanimity instruction, this Court should dismiss defendant's argument because he invited the error.

> 2. DEFENDANT FAILS TO DEMONSTRATE THAT HIS COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS DEFICIENT BECAUSE IT CAN BE CHARACTERIZED AS LEGITIMATE TRIAL STRATEGY, AND HE CANNOT SHOW THAT THE PERFORMANCE PREJUDICED THE DEFENSE

To establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, defendant must show (1) that counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); *State v. Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225–26, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). "Surmounting Strickland's high bar is never an easy task." *Padilla v. Kentucky*, ___ U.S. __, 130 S. Ct. 1473, 1485 (2010).

Counsel's performance is deficient when it falls below an objective standard of reasonableness under prevailing professional norms. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). There is a strong presumption that counsel's performance was not deficient. *Id.* The court reviews counsel's performance in the context of all of the circumstances. *Id.* at 334–35. Performance is not deficient where counsel's conduct can be

characterized as legitimate trial strategy or tactics. *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 863, 215 P.3d 177 (2009); *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 336.

A defendant establishes prejudice by showing there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different but for counsel's unprofessional errors. *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 335. When a defendant challenges a conviction, "the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the fact finder would have had a reasonable doubt *respecting guilt*." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695 (emphasis added).

Defendant fails to show his counsel's performance was deficient because the record indicates his counsel's decision not to request a unanimity instruction was a legitimate trial strategy. When the State proposed the unanimity instruction at trial, defense counsel objected because he believed the instruction would have unnecessarily confused the jury:

> Generally, when you read the comments to the Petrich instruction, it doesn't apply, as I understand it, to multi-count cases because the way it's read could confuse the jury. Normally it's when you have one count but you have like six possible acts that could have accounted for.

Say, for example, hypothetically the State charged him with one count of child molestation and yet the child describes perhaps an incident in one bedroom, something in an office, and something in another bedroom. The jury, under Petrich, would have to decide which of those one acts unanimously do they agree on to support the charge beyond a reasonable doubt.

It becomes a problem when you have multiple counts because look what it says in the second sentence:

"To convict the defendant on any count of child molestation, one particular act of child molestation in the first degree must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt."

The reason that comment is there and even though the jury is given Instruction 3.01, that each count is to be considered by you separately and your verdict on one doesn't affect your verdict on the other, the reason that they give you that little warning under the comment is to avoid the possibility that, well, if you find that he committed one act, then he must have committed all the counts.

So I elected, when reading the comment, when reading and looking at this case, saying we're going to confuse the heck out of this jury and there's a possibility they could be misled into thinking that this means to convict him on any count, they must agree on, at least, one act.

RP 405–06 (emphasis added).⁵

After hearing argument, the trial court asked defense counsel three times whether he objected to the *Petrich* instruction. RP 408. In response to each of those inquiries defense counsel requested the court not to give the instruction. RP 408–09. Defense counsel made it clear that he strategically opted not to offer a *Petrich* instruction because he feared the jury would convict defendant of three counts of molestation if they found evidence to support only a single act. This was a legitimate trial strategy, and thus counsel's performance cannot be considered deficient.

McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 336.

⁵ As identified by defense counsel at trial, the notes and comments to the pattern jury instruction on unanimity highlight this confusion. *See* 11 *Washington Practice*, Criminal Pattern Instruction 4.25 (2010). Additionally, the notes and comments to the pattern jury instruction stress that a *Petrich* instruction is not necessary where the prosecutor elects to rely upon a specific occurrence to support a conviction—which the prosecutor ultimately did during closing arguments. *See id.*, Note on Use.

Defendant cannot demonstrate prejudice because, as argued above in section one, the case law is clear that a defendant's constitutional rights are protected when either the State elects which acts the jury should rely on to convict, or the trial court offers a *Petrich* instruction. *Petrich*, 101 Wn.2d at 570-572; State v. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d at 411. Defendant's right to a fair trial was not prejudiced because the State expressly told the jury that they were to consider evidence of only three acts during their deliberations.⁶ Defendant cannot show prejudice because the evidence supported the jury's determinations, and the jury unanimously convicted defendant of all three counts of molestation. First, the evidence showed that defendant had twisted C.C.'s penis in the bathroom. RP 391; Ex. 5 (13:55:29–13:56:10, 14:02:38, 14:08:55). Second, there was evidence that on only one occasion in Ms. H.'s room, defendant tied C.C.'s hands with plastic ties, put duct tape on C.C.'s mouth, and put his penis on C.C.'s anus. RP 116, 168, 246; Ex. 5 (13:55:29-14:06:30, 14:11:45, 14:14:10, 14:27:50). Finally, the evidence showed that defendant had undressed C.C. in C.C.'s room and asked C.C. to look at a Spiderman blanket while he again put his penis on C.C.'s anus. RP 127; Ex. 5 (13:58:15, 14:11:45,

⁶ The State elected the following three acts for the jury to consider during deliberations: where defendant (1) twisted C.C.'s penis in the bathroom, (2) tied C.C.'s hands behind his back with plastic ties, placed duct tape over C.C.'s mouth, undressed C.C., and put his penis on C.C.'s anus in Ms. H.'s room, and (3) undressed C.C., made C.C. look at a Spiderman blanket, and put his penis on C.C.'s anus in C.C.'s room.

14:18:00–14:20:00). These three events involved unique circumstances (i.e., defendant twisting C.C.'s penis, the duct tape and zip ties, and the Spiderman blanket) which the prosecutor relied on to distinguish the basis for each of defendant's charges.

This Court should reject defendant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel because he has failed in his burden to show that his counsel's performance was deficient and prejudiced his defense. Counsel's decision not to offer a *Petrich* instruction can be characterized as a legitimate trial tactic. Defendant sustained no prejudice because a *Petrich* instruction was not even required in this case. Moreover, the evidence from trial supported the three acts the jury was asked to consider during deliberations.

3. THE ERROR, IF ANY, WAS HARMLESS BECAUSE THE STATE PROVED EACH CHARGE OF MOLESTATION BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT

The failure to give a required unanimity instruction is subject to a harmless error analysis. *See Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d at 405–06. This Court conducts a harmless error test only where the State has failed to elect which acts it relies on for the basis of defendant's charges and the trial court fails to give a *Petrich* instruction. *Id*.

This harmless error test turns on whether a rational trier of fact could have a reasonable doubt as to whether each incident established the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* In *State v. Camarillo*, the Court described the inquiry this way: Our task is to determine whether a rational trier of fact could have a reasonable doubt as to whether any of the incidents did not establish the crime. In other words, whether the evidence of each incident established the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.

115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P. 2d 850 (1990).

This Court need not conduct a harmless error analysis because, as argued in part one, the State elected which of the acts the jury was to consider during deliberations.

If this Court were to find error, however, the error was harmless because the State proved that each act occurred beyond a reasonable doubt. The evidence showed that defendant molested C.C. on three occasions: in the bathroom, in Ms. H.'s room, and C.C.'s room. This was the only evidence the prosecutor asked the jury to consider during deliberations.⁷ RP 428–30, 436. C.C.'s testimony was not merely an uncorroborated allegation against defendant. C.C.'s testimony was supported by testimony from Ms. H., a pediatric nurse, a forensic interviewer, and the video recording of C.C.'s forensic interview. No rational trier of fact could have had a reasonable doubt as to any of the charged offenses. Thus, even if the trial court erred in failing to give a unanimity instruction, the error was harmless.

⁷ See supra, part two, for a review of the evidence relating to these instances of molestation.

Defendant primarily argues that the alleged error was not harmless because C.C.'s testimony was "contradictory and confusing." Brief of appellant at 14-16. This argument fails because it questions the credibility of C.C.'s testimony, even though "[c]redibility determinations are for the trier of fact and cannot be reviewed upon appeal." State v. Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990). Also, any inconsistency within C.C.'s testimony does not undermine the remainder of the State's evidence. The State recognizes that based on C.C.'s testimony alone, there was some slight inconsistency as to when and where each act of molestation occurred. But defendant's trial occurred nearly two and a half years after the commission of the crimes, and C.C. was only five years old when they occurred-seven years old when he testified. RP 120. Surely the court might expect some inconsistency from a witness as young as C.C. and his inability to narrow down precisely when and where each act occurred. In the context of a harmless error analysis, what matters more is that C.C. was able to recall unique details as to each of the three instances of molestation (e.g., defendant twisting his penis in the bathroom, plastic ties and duct tape in Ms. H.'s room, and being forced to look at the Spiderman blanket in his bedroom).

Moreover, C.C.'s statements to his mother and other witnesses, and his answers during the forensic interview—which occurred chronologically closer to the crimes than C.C.'s trial testimony—are all compelling evidence that defendant molested C.C. on at least the three charged incidents.

Any alleged error in this case was thus harmless because the State proved each charge of molestation beyond a reasonable doubt.

4. DEFENDANT FAILS TO IDENTIFY WHERE ANY CLOSURE OCCURED THAT WOULD REQUIRE A **BONE-CLUB** ANALYSIS⁸

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